FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
1/29/2020 12:26 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 1/31/2020 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

98137-0 NO. 78629-6-I

COURT OF APPEALS FOR DIVISION I STATE OF WASHINGTON

VALUE VILLAGE,

Appellant,

v.

CANDIDA VASQUEZ-RAMIREZ, and DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIES OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondents.

PETITION FOR REVIEW TO THE SUPREME COURT OF WASHINGTON

Hillarie H. Lee, WSBA# 52109 Hall & Miller, P.S. P.O. Box 33990 Seattle, WA 98133 Ph: (206) 622-1107

Fax: (206) 546-9613 hlee@thall.com

Attorney for Appellant/Petitioner

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The Petitioner/Appellant, Value Village, petitions the Supreme Court of the State of Washington for review of the Published Opinion of the Court of Appeals, Division I, filed on December 30, 2019.

II. ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. Whether Value Village preserved its "voluntary retirement" argument for appeal when it a.) expressly invoked the voluntary retirement doctrine in oral argument before the industrial appeals judge, b.) pleaded facts in its Petition for Review sufficient to prove Vasquez-Ramirez's termination for willful misconduct; and c.) specifically cited RCW 51.32.090(10) in the "Authority" relied upon section of the Petition for Review.
- Whether Division I's conclusion that Value Village did not make a
 prima facie case is contrary to the ultimate goal of the Industrial
 Insurance Act, established precedent, and against public interest.
- 3. Whether review should be granted when Division I's published opinion is inconsistent with case law interpreting RCW 51.32.090(4) and (10).

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In August of 2014, Candida Vasquez-Ramirez (Respondent herein) filed a workers' compensation claim for an industrial injury she incurred while in the course of employment with Value Village. CP at 13, 30, 42,

43; 2/1/17 Trans. at 16-17; 2/3/17 Trans. at 10-11. On August 28, 2014, the Department of Labor and Industries (Department) issued an order allowing her claim. CABR¹ at 147.

On January 8, 2015, the Department issued an order closing this claim because no further necessary and proper treatment was indicated, and the Respondent was not entitled to an award for permanent partial disability. CP at 3, 5, 13-14, 31, 43, 83, 100; CABR at 111.

On January 27, 2015, the Respondent was terminated from her job at Value Village due to disrespectful misconduct and willful insubordination. CP at 2, 4, 14, 24, 43, 83, 100; 2/3/17 Trans. at 20, 25-26, 63-66, Ex. 2. On March 17, 2015, less than two months after being terminated, the Respondent filed an application to reopen her claim. CP at 3, 14, 31; CABR at 61.

On July 16, 2015, the Department issued an order reopening the claim, effective March 6, 2015. CP at 3, 14; CABR at 61. On August 20, 2015, the Department issued an order affirming the July 16, 2015 Department order allowing claim reopening. CP at 14; CABR at 132. On September 3, 2015, the Employer filed a Notice of Appeal with the Board of the August 20, 2015 Department order. CP at 3, CABR at 132. This

2

¹ Certified Appeal Board Record.

appeal was given Docket No. 15 19690. *Id.* On December 17, 2015, the Board issued an order dismissing the appeal under Docket Nos. 15 19283 and a concurrent appeal by the Employer. *Id.*

On December 29, 2015, the Department issued an order identifying that time-loss compensation benefits were paid from August 22, 2015 through October 13, 2015. CP at 14; CABR at 133. On February 5, 2016, the Department issued an order affirming its December 29, 2015 order. CABR at 6, 133.

On March 31, 2016, the Employer filed a Notice of Appeal with the Board, for the February 5, 2016 Department order affirming time-loss compensation benefits for the period of from August 22, 2015 through October 13, 2015. CP at 5; CABR at 6, 56, 63. The Board granted this appeal on April 7, 2016. CABR at 58. This appeal was assigned Docket No. 16 13381. *Id*.

On March 8, 2016, the Department issued an order finding that time-loss compensation was paid from February 24, 2016 through March 7, 2016. CP at 5; CABR at 113, 133. On June 9, 2016, the Department issued an order affirming its March 8, 2016 order. CP at 5; CABR at 117, 133. On August 1, 2016, Value Village filed a Notice of Appeal with the Board of the June 9, 2016 Department order affirming its award of time-loss benefits from February 24, 2016 through March 7, 2016. CP at 5; CABR at 115-16,

151. The Board issued an Order granting this appeal on August 5, 2016, and assigned this appeal Docket No. 16 17890. CP at 5; CABR at 121, 151.

On April 6, 2016, the Department issued an order affirming its February 10, 2016 Department order that awarded \$56.60 as an interest payment for benefits previous paid for the period of August 22, 2015 through October 13, 2015. CP at 5; CABR at 106-07, 150. On May 31, 2016, the Employer filed a Notice of Appeal with the Board of the April 6, 2016 Department order. CP at 5; CABR at 102-03, 150. The Board granted this appeal on June 7, 2016. CABR at 108, 150. This appeal was assigned Docket No. 16 15582. *Id*.

On July 7, 2016, the Department issued an order awarding the Respondent time-loss benefits from March 8, 2016 through July 6, 2016. CP at 5; CABR at 138-39, 150. On September 6, 2016, the Employer filed a Notice of Appeal with the Board of the July 7, 2016 Department order. CP at 5; CABR at 136-37, 151. The Board granted this appeal on September 12, 2016. CABR at 145, 151. This appeal was assigned Docket No. 16 19290. *Id*.

On May 19, 2017, Industrial Appeals Judge Sara M. Dannen issued a Proposed Decision and Order (PD&O) under Claim No. AV-31258 and Docket Nos. 16 13381, 16 15582, 16 17890 and 16 19290. CP at 2; CABR at 46-54. The May 19, 2017 PD&O concluded that the Employer failed "to

present a prima facie case for the relief being sought as required by RCW 51.52.050." CABR at 53.

On July 11, 2017, the Employer filed a Petition for Review ("PFR") with the Board of the May 19, 2017 Proposed Decision and Order. *Id.* at 21-39. On July 31, 2017, the Board issued an Order Granting Petition for Review. *Id.* at 19.

On October 9, 2017, the Board issued its Decision and Order. CP at 2-8; CABR at 3-9. The Board found that the Employer failed to present a prima facie case for relief "because it failed to present evidence that after the claim was reopened, Ms. Vasquez-Ramirez could perform any work, including the modified duty job the employer had made available." CP at 4; CABR at 5. The Board's Decision and Order dismissed the Employer's appeals. CP at 5-6; CABR at 6-7.

Jack Eng, one of the three members of the Board, wrote in dissent, that "[t]he Employer has made a prima facie case that Ms. Vasquez-Ramirez was not entitled to time-loss compensation benefits because she was terminated from her modified-duty work for cause. That is all the employer is required to do to shift the burden." CP at 7; CABR at 8; *see*, RCW 51.32.090(10); *and see*, WAC 296-14-100(1). Because Ms. Vasquez-Ramirez was terminated "from the modified work for reasons wholly unrelated to the industrial injury...then the worker's right to time-loss

compensation does not resume because the modified work would have remained available to her but for her wrongful conduct." *Id*.

On October 31, 2017, the Employer timely filed a Notice of Appeal with King County Superior Court of the October 9, 2017 Board Decision and Order. CP at 1. This appeal was assigned Case No. 17-2-28546-3 SEA.

On June 8, 2018, the superior court filed its Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Judgment (hereinafter "Judgment") under Case No. 17-2-28546-3 SEA. CP at 63-72. The Judgment's Findings of Fact adopted the Board Decision and Order Findings of Fact Nos. 1-4. *Id.* at 70. The Judgment's Conclusions of Law adopted the Board's Decision and Order Conclusions of Law Nos. 1-3, affirmed the Board Decision and Order, and dismissed the Employer's appeals. *Id.* at 71. The June 8, 2018 Judgment reasoned,

Even assuming that the Employer proved that it would have continued to make a modified-duty job available to the Employee had she not been terminated for cause, the fact remains that the Employer presented no medical testimony that the Employee was physically able to perform the modified-duty job during the later periods in 2015 and 2016 for which the Department paid time-loss compensation to the Employee. The Employer therefore failed to present a *prima facie* case, and the Employer's appeal must be dismissed.

Id. at 70.

On July 3, 2018, Value Village filed its Notice of Appeal to the Court of Appeals, Division I with King County Superior Court regarding

the June 8, 2018 Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Judgment issued under Case No. 17-2-28546-3 SEA. CP at 74-88. This appeal was assigned Case No. 78629-6-I.

On July 11, 2018, following the Respondent's motion for attorney fees and costs, King County Superior Court issued its Amended Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Amended Judgment (hereinafter "Amended Judgment"). CP at 89-107. The Amended Judgment's Findings of Fact also adopted the Board Decision and Order Findings of Fact Nos. 1-4 (*id.* at 100), adopted the Board's Conclusions of Law Nos. 1-3, affirmed the Board Decision and Order, and dismissed the Employer's appeals (*id.* at 103). The July 11, 2018 Amended Judgment offered the same substantive reasoning as the June 8, 2018 Judgment for the dismissal of Value Village's appeals. *Id.* at 97. The Amended Judgment also awarded the Respondent \$11,338.00 in attorney fees and costs for having prevailed on appeal in superior court. *See id.* at 104.

On July 27, 2018, Value Village filed its Notice of Appeal to the Court of Appeals, Division I with King County Superior Court regarding the July 11, 2018 Amended Judgment issued under Case No. 17-2-28546-3 SEA. *Id.* at 108. This appeal was assigned Case No. 78785-3-I. On August 16, 2018, Value Village filed a Motion to Consolidate Case Nos. 78629-6-I and 78785-3-I. On August 28, 2018, the Court of Appeals Division I entered a

ruling granting Value Village's motion, consolidating both cases under Case No. 78629-6-I.

On December 30, 2019, Division I of our Court of Appeals affirmed the superior court's decision under Case No. 78629-6-1. *Value Village v. Vasquez-Ramirez*, No. 78629-6-1 (Wash. App. filed December 30, 2019). In its analysis, the Court of Appeals reasoned that Value Village failed to meet its burden of producing sufficient evidence to show Ms. Vasquez-Ramirez was not entitled to time-loss benefits. *Id.* at 10.

Division I found that the evidence of firing for cause had not established a prima facie case because Value Village failed to establish the following: 1) that modified-duty work remained available for Ms. Vasquez-Ramirez, 2) that Value Village had a job available that met Ms. Vasquez-Ramirez's ostensible medical restrictions for the times for which she received time-loss, and 3) that there was medical evidence showing Ms. Vasquez-Ramirez had the physical capacity to perform any available job. *Id.* at 16-17.

Finally, Division I concluded that Value Village failed to preserve the "voluntary retirement" issue for appeal. *Id.* at 19. The Court found that Value Village quoting the pertinent text of the RCW in its PFR did not sufficiently raise the legal issue on appeal and the attorney for Value Village

only briefly, as an example, mentioned "voluntary retirement" in its argument before the IAJ. *Id.*

IV. ARGUMENT

Division I's published Opinion below conflicts with Washington Supreme Court precedent, Washington Court of Appeals precedent, statutory and regulatory authority, and runs counter to substantial public interest and the "ultimate goal" of the Industrial Insurance Act itself. Value Village petitions the Court for review as warranted by RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2) and (4).

The Petitioner argues that Division I erred in finding that the Petitioner "waived" its "voluntary retirement" argument by not presenting sufficient argument regarding this theory in its Petition for Review to the Board. The Petitioner also argues that Division I's Opinion is contrary to substantial public interest by not reaching the question of whether the Petitioner made a prima facie case for the Claimant's voluntary retirement prior to the alleged temporary total disability periods at issue. The Petitioner argues, lastly, that the published Opinion of the Court of Appeals erred in not upholding the Claimant's burden of strict proof of her entitlement to the benefits challenged before the Board.

A. Petitioner Did Not "Waive" Its "Voluntary Retirement" Argument, and Division I's Published Opinion is Contrary to Established Precedent.

RCW 51.52.104 requires a party petitioning the Board for review of the Industrial Appeals Judge's proposed decision to "set forth in detail the grounds therefor and the party or parties filing the same shall be deemed to have waived all objections or irregularities not *specifically set forth* therein." Emphasis added. The Industrial Insurance Act also addresses what is necessary to preserve Board issues for appeal to superior court: "Upon appeals to the superior court only such issues of law or fact may be raised as were properly included in the notice of appeal to the board, or in the complete record of the proceedings before the board." RCW 51.52.115.

Division I concluded that "quoting the text of RCW 51.32.090(10)" in the Authority section of its Petition for Review (PFR), argument of facts establishing Vasquez-Ramirez's termination for willful misconduct, and "briefly mention[ing] 'voluntary retirement' in its argument before the IAJ" do not constitute raising the issue before the Board. *Value Village v. Vasquez-Ramirez*, No. 78629-6-1, slip op. 18-19 (Wash. App. filed December 30, 2019).

What Division I fails to account for, however, is that the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals (Board) is a state agency whose *purpose* is to handle substantive appeals of workers' compensation matters arising under

Title 51 RCW. *See* RCW 51.52.010. The Board consists of Industrial Appeals Judges and Board Members that are practiced triers of fact in workers' compensation matters, and are routinely and well versed in matters regarding Title 51. The Petitioner's raising of the "voluntary retirement" issue during oral argument (preserved in transcripts in the Certified Appeal Board Record), presentation of evidence and argument regarding Ms. Vasquez-Ramirez's willful misconduct and resulting termination, and explicit citation to RCW 51.32.090(10)² in its PFR were reasonably calculated to put the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals on notice of the Petitioner's raising of this issue. *See* CABR at 21-36, 2/3/17 Trans. at 79-82, RCW 51.52.090, WAC 296-14-100. Value Village did not waive its "voluntary retirement" argument.

Division I holding that the Petitioner waived its voluntary retirement argument is also contrary to prior Court of Appeals precedent, and sound public policy.

In *Allan v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, Division II found that Allan, notwithstanding the merits of her position, waived an objection as it was not set out in her petition for review. *Allan v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 66 Wn. App. 415, 422, 832 P.2d 489 (Div. II 1992). Similarly, the same court found

² RCW 51.32.090 comprises over three pages of text, single spaced. (10) comprises only two lines of text.

in another case that an aggrieved party failed to include objections to the record in a petition for review and therefore waived these objections. Homemakers Upjohn v. Russell, 33 Wn. App. 777, 658 P.2d 27 (Div. II 1983).

In Ferencak v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., the Court of Appeals, Division I found that for the first time on appeal, Ferencak raised several new arguments to support his claim for additional interpreter services and did not raise the issue below. Ferencak v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 142 Wn. App. 713, 175 P.3d 1109 (Div. I 2008). In Garrett Freightlines v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., the Plaintiff's PFR to the Board failed to challenge either the findings of fact or conclusions of law of the IAJ relating to his occupational disease theory and the Court found that the plaintiff failed to raise the occupational disease issue in his notice of appeal and PFR deeming the argument waived. Garrett Freightlines v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 45 Wn. App. 335, 725 P.2d 463 (Div I 1986).

Here, the Court of Appeals' December 30, 2019 Opinion forecloses Value Village from arguing that the Claimant had voluntarily retired despite citing to the authority in its PFR, and having argued voluntary retirement in oral argument before the IAJ. CABR at 38, 2/3/17 Trans. at 79-82. It was not an accident that the Employer mentioned "Voluntary Retirement" in its *oral argument* before the Board and cited authority therefore in the PFR - it

was because it was part of the Employer's theory of the case that logically and plainly flowed from the facts in evidence.

If the Employer did not specifically cite to RCW 51.32.090(10) in its PFR, nor argued "Voluntary Retirement" before the Board, then the Court of Appeals' decision would be in line with the Garrett Freightlines or Ferencak cases where the issues found to be waived were not mentioned anywhere in the PFR and were in fact raised for the first time on appeal. Ferencak v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 142 Wn. App. 713, 175 P.3d 1109 (Div. 12008); Garrett Freightlines v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 45 Wn. App. 335, 725 P.2d 463 (Div I 1986). But Value Village did cite the voluntary retirement provision of RCW 51.32.090 in its PFR, and it did call out the voluntary retirement doctrine during oral argument. Division I's conclusions are contrary to existing authority finding PFR waiver of issues.

Further inconsistency and uncertainty surrounding interpretation of RCW 51.52.104 is exemplified in the rhetoric provided in an unpublished ruling on Petition for Discretionary Review by Division I. *See* Attachment 1. Counsel representing Value Village has, in the past, argued that a *worker's* petition for review was insufficient under RCW 51.52.104 and *Garrett Freightlines* because "[the worker's] petition for review to the Board did not identify any theory for claim allowance with citation to authority or argument warranting reversal." *Id.* at 3. The Court of Appeals,

Division One, ruled against the Employer, agreeing with the Superior Court that the Employer's argument was "highly technical" and not persuasive. *Id.* at 4.

Division I's apparently inconsistent ruling in *Hanlon* underscores the errant public policy put forth in its December 30, 2019 published Opinion in this case. Requiring parties to use a special "code pleading" in their PFRs to the Board is inconsistent with the principles underlying notice pleading in civil cases, and creates more confusion and ambiguity with respect to what *would be* sufficiently detailed argument to preserve issues in a PFR to the Board.

The Division I Court of Appeals' decision finding the Petitioner to have waived its "voluntary retirement" argument is inconsistent with statute, Department Regulations, Court of Appeals precedent interpreting RCW 51.52.104, and sound public policy. Review should be granted, and Division I's ruling should be reversed.

B. Division I's Conclusion that Value Village Did Not Make a Prima Facie Case is Contrary to the Ultimate Goal of the Industrial Insurance Act, Established Precedent, and Against Public Interest.

Division I's published Opinion finding that the Petitioner did not make a prima facie case for reversal of wage-replacement benefits by presenting evidence of Vasquez-Ramirez's termination for willful misconduct is contrary to the "ultimate goal" of the Industrial Insurance Act itself, and case law interpreting the Act. Review should be granted, and the December 30, 2019 published Opinion reversed.

RCW 51.32.090(10) provides that when a "worker is voluntarily retired and is no longer attached to the workforce; benefits shall not be paid under this section." Division III explained that under RCW 51.32.090, a worker who voluntarily removed themselves from the workforce is not entitled to wage replacement benefits because "it is implicit an individual suffer a potential adverse economic impact before he may qualify for time loss benefits." *Kaiser Aluminum & Chem. Corp. v. Overdorff*, 57 Wn. App. 291, 296, 788 P.2d 8 (Div. III 1990).

The ultimate goal of the Industrial Insurance Act, Title 51 RCW, is 'to provide temporary financial support until the injured worker is able to return to work. This goal cannot come to fruition when a worker voluntarily removes himself [or herself] from the active labor force and opts, despite the presence of sufficient physical capacities, to decline further employment.'

Energy Nw. v. Hartje, 148 Wn. App. 454, 469, 199 P.3d 1043 (Div. III 2009) (citing *Overdorff*, 57 Wn. App. at 296). Emphasis added.

This is consistent with *the Claimant's* burden of strict proof and requirement to present evidence of a bona fide attempt to return to work after it has been shown that he or she is no longer receiving wages from any gainful employment. *See* WAC 296-14-100(1). Here, Value Village

presented evidence sufficient to prove, on a more-probable-than-not basis, that but-for Respondent's termination for willful misconduct, employment would have remained available at Value Village to accommodate Respondent's work restrictions.

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