FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 3/25/2020 3:17 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 98137-0

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

VALUE VILLAGE,

V.

Appellant,

RESPONDENT VASQUEZ-RAMIREZ'S ANSWER TO APPELLANT'S PETITION FOR

REVIEW

CANDIDA VASQUEZ-RAMIREZ and DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIES OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondents.

TO: THE CLERK OF THE COURT

AND TO: VALUE VILLAGE, Appellant, by and through HILLARY

H. LEE and RYAN MILLER, its attorney of record;

AND TO: DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIES OF

THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent, by and

through its attorney of record, STEVE VINYARD,

Assistant Attorney General

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

C. ARGUMENT

In response to the issues presented in Appellant's brief dated January 29, 2020, starting with issue number one (1), Value Village's continued assertion that they preserved their Voluntary Retirement argument is improper. As Judge J. Robert Leach correctly noted in his published opinion for this matter, "RCW 51.52.104 requires a party petitioning the Board to 'set forth in detail the grounds' for review." *Value Vill. v. Vasquez-Ramirez*, 11 Wn. App. 2d 590, 606 (2019). Indeed, this voluntary retirement argument is improperly brought before this court just as it was improperly brought before the Court of Appeals and Superior Court since at no point during the Board proceedings for this matter were the details given for this argument or facts referenced in support thereof. For instance, during the Board proceedings for this matter, it was never argued that Ms. Vasquez-Ramirez voluntarily retired from the workforce and no specific evidence was introduced to support that she had voluntarily retired or was no longer attached to the workforce.

As it regards the Appellant's second issue statement (2) regarding their failure to make a prima facie case, again Judge J. Robert Leach's published opinion for this matter makes clear that "Value Village presented no medical evidence that Vasquez-Ramirez could work" and "because it did not present this evidence, Value Village failed to present a prima facie case." *Value Vill. v. Vasquez-Ramirez*, 11 Wn. App. 2d at 604. Furthermore, Judge Leach also made clear that the Appellant, inter

alia, presented no medical evidence from the treating doctor as required by RCW 51.32.090(4)(b) regarding Ms. Vasquez-Ramirez's ability to do modified or light duty work in the alternative. See *Id*. Thus, Judge Leach correctly held that "we conclude that an appellant employer challenging the award of time-loss payments to an employee fired for cause bears the burden of presenting evidence that shows that the employee was capable of performing work providing compensation at a level similar to that before her injury." *Id*. Thus, the Appellant did not meet their burden of proof regarding their request to deny Ms. Vasquez-Ramirez's temporary total disability payments (or time-loss payments) under her industrial injury claim.

Regarding the Appellant's third issue (3) regarding Judge Leach's published decision being inconsistent with RCW 51.32.090(4) or (10), the Appellant's brief does not explain how they are inconsistent. Indeed, the only argument they make to support this unfounded assertion is citing the *Energy NW v. Hartje*, Court of Appeals, Division III case. However, in that case the Department of Labor and Industries formally found Ms. Hartje employable as of October 2, 1996, and there was evidence introduced at the Board by her employer which indicated that she had voluntarily retired from the workforce and her employer also made that specific argument at the Board regarding Ms. Hartje.

See, Energy Nw. v. Hartje, 148 Wn. App. 454, 460, 199 P.3d 1043, 1046 (2009). These facts do NOT exist in this matter, indeed the Department made no formal finding at any time that Ms. Vasquez-Ramirez was employable and the Appellant did not specifically argue or present evidence at the Board that Ms. Vasquez-Ramirez had voluntarily retired or removed herself from the workforce like Ms. Hartje.

As such, the Appellant's petition for review should be denied by this Court because they have presented issues which show no abuse of discretion by the Court of Appeals, Superior Court or the Board; or misapplication of the law to the facts by any of the lower courts; or a lack of substantial evidence to support their findings and conclusions of law; and appropriate deference was given to the Board's underlying decision as the law requires. Lastly, no public interests were violated by the decisions of the lower courts which give rise to this matter, and their decisions are not contrary to any established law, rule or case.

D. ANALYSIS

1. <u>Value Village's assertion of Voluntary Retirement is</u> improperly brought before this court.

As this Court is aware, appellate review is based solely on the evidence and testimony presented to the Board. Walston v. Boeing Co., 181 Wn.2d 391, 396, 334 P.3d 519, 521, (2014); Bennerstrom v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 120 Wn. App. 853, 858, 86 P.3d 826, 828, (2004) (emphasis added). The Appellant's argument that they presented evidence

and argued to the Board that Ms. Vasquez-Ramirez had voluntarily retired from the workforce because of their cutting and pasting several sections and sub-sections of RCW 51.32.090 into their July 11, 2017 petition for review to the Board (to include section 10) does not mean they specifically argued or discussed the issue of voluntary retirement to the Board. Indeed, in the Appellant's petition for review to the Board, their main discussion points were A) termination for cause and B) burden shifting. The Appellant never argued specifically that Ms. Vasquez-Ramirez had voluntarily retired or removed herself from the workforce, and no evidence was presented or cited to the Board to support that finding pursuant to WAC 296-14-100 regarding Ms. Vasquez-Ramirez.

Next, the Appellant makes an argument in their brief to this Court that they raised or preserved the issue of voluntary retirement during "oral argument" at the Board. However, when reading the February 3, 2017 hearing transcript on page 80, voluntary retirement was only raised as a hypothetical by the Appellant in describing general circumstances wherein medical evidence does not need to be presented in lines 5-17, but that theory or argument was NEVER applied to this matter or Ms. Vasquez-Ramirez specifically or personally. Indeed, the hearing transcript for this date reveals that on page 80, beginning on line 18, through page 82 the Appellant made their specific arguments for this matter during oral

argument to the Board, regarding Ms. Vasquez-Ramirez specifically, and nowhere in the hearing transcript did they raise or cite any evidence of voluntary retirement as it regards Ms. Vasquez-Ramirez personally or specifically or expressly during their oral argument.

2. The law requires liberal construction in Ms. Vasquez-Ramirez's favor as the injured worker.

This matter regards an industrial injury claim under the Washington State Industrial Insurance Act ("Act"), Title 51 of the Revised Code of Washington (RCW). The Act was promulgated in 1911 because injured workers' remedies had "been uncertain, slow and inadequate" and therefore, the Act was created to provide "sure and certain relief for workers, injured in their work, and their families and dependents...regardless of questions of fault." RCW 51.04.010.

RCW 51.48.025 prohibits retaliation by employers and states "No employer may discharge or in any manner discriminate against any employee because such employee has filed or communicated to the employer an intent to file a claim for compensation or exercises any rights provided under this title."

RCW 51.12.010 makes clear that "there is a hazard in all employment and it is the purpose of this title to embrace all employments which are within the legislative jurisdiction of the state. This title shall be liberally construed for the purpose of reducing to a minimum the suffering and

economic loss arising from injuries and/or death occurring in the course of employment." (emphasis added)

It is important to note in construing the Industrial Insurance Act, that it is "remedial in nature and is to be liberally construed in order to achieve its purpose of providing compensation to all covered employees injured in their employment, with doubts resolved in favor of the worker."

Dennis v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 109 Wn.2d 467, 470, 745 P.2d 1295

(1987); RCW 51.12.010. See also Bolin v. Kitsap Cy, 114 Wn.2d 70, 72, 785 P.2d 805 (1990); Sacred Heart Med. Ctr. v. Carrado, 92 Wn.2d 631, 635, 600 P.2d 1015 (1979); Scott v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 77 Wn.2d 888, 890, 468 P.2d 440 (1970) (emphasis added).

RCW 51.04.010 and RCW 51.12.010 allow only for the liberal construction of the Act in decisions concerning the rights of workers.

Seattle School District v. Dep't of Labor and Indus, 116 Wn.2d 352, 360, 804 P.2d 621 (1991). Thus, the doctrine of liberal construction is not applicable to an employer. Additionally, while there is a balance between the rights of the employee and the employer, the Washington Supreme Court has held that "given our commitment to liberally construing the Act in favor of the injured worker...that tension should be resolved in favor of the injured worker." Weyerhaeuser Company v. Tri, 117 Wn.2d 128, 139, 814 P.2d 629 (1991) (emphasis added).

3. Value Village failed to establish a prima facie case showing that Ms. Vasquez-Ramirez was not entitled to temporary total disability payments or time-loss payments, so they did not meet their burden of proof.

When a worker is unable to return to any type of reasonably continuous gainful employment as a direct result of an accepted industrial injury or exposure, he/she is considered temporarily totally disabled, and a percentage of the wages previously earned are paid in the form of timeloss compensation. WAC 296-20-01002; RCW 51.32.090. Often injured workers who are totally temporarily disabled continue to seek treatment from a medical provider. *See Franks v. Dep't of 11 Labor & Indus.*, 35 Wn.2d 763, 766, 215 P.2d 416 (1950).

Ms. Vasquez-Ramirez was determined to be temporarily totally disabled by the Department for certain periods of time, which was communicated to her employer Value Village by way of work restrictions from her treating doctor or physician. CP 2, lines 6-11; CP 31, line 14-15. The employer did not present any medical evidence from Ms. Vasquez-Ramirez's treating doctor or physician pursuant to RCW 51.32.090(4)(b) (after her claim was re-opened for benefits (pursuant to WAC 296-14-400) on or after March 6, 2015 that indicated she could still perform any modified or light duty work. CP 3, lines 13-20; CP 4, lines 27-38. By appealing the Department's decision to award time-loss or temporary total disability benefits to Ms. Vasquez-Ramirez, Value Village is statutorily

required to present evidence to establish a prima facie case that Ms.

Vasquez-Ramirez was not entitled to those benefits. CP 3, lines 21-22.

Whenever the department has taken any action or made any decision relating to any phase of the administration of this title the worker, beneficiary, employer, or other person aggrieved thereby may request reconsideration of the department or may appeal to the board. In an appeal before the board, the appellant shall have the burden of proceeding with the evidence to establish a prima facie case for the relief sought in such appeal.

RCW 51.52.050 (emphasis added).

The legislature's choice to use the word 'shall' removes any doubt or discretion regarding an appealing party's obligation or burden to present evidence to support their appeal(s), and in this matter that required medical evidence—namely, medical evidence that Ms. Vasquez-Ramirez was not temporarily totally disabled; however, the employer Value Village presented no medical evidence and therefore did not meet their burden of proof. RCW 51.52.050; *Turner v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 41 Wn.2d 739, 251 P.2d 883 (1953).

Indeed, in making a determination regarding time-loss compensation or temporary total disability, medical testimony is an essential element. CP 94, lines 13-18. For instance, an injured worker must present medical evidence to show their entitlement to receive time-loss compensation; likewise, expert medical testimony must be presented by an employer that contends that a worker is capable of performing a particular job. CP 94, lines 18-22; *Weinheimer v. Dep'tLabor & Indus.*, 8 Wn.2d. 14, 17, 111 P.2d 221, 222 (1941); *see also, Page v. Dep't of Labor*

& Indus., 528 Wn.2d 706, 708-09, 328 P.2d 663, 664 (1958). Therefore, an employer appealing a Department Order awarding a temporary total disability payment should present medical evidence showing the payment was incorrect. Here, Value Village presented no expert medical evidence that showed Ms. Vasquez-Ramirez could work during the time periods on appeal at the Board. CP 95, lines 11-17. In failing to present necessary expert medical evidence to establish Ms. Vasquez-Ramirez was not temporarily totally disabled for the time periods on appeal, the employer Value Village fatally failed to meet their burden of proof and they also failed to present any evidence regarding the interest payment on said benefits under Board Docket 16 15582 to Ms. Vasquez-Ramirez, thus all their appeals were properly dismissed. CP 4, lines 34-39; CP 5, lines 1-6.

4. Ms. Vasquez-Ramirez had no burden to show she was entitled to temporary total ability benefits because the Appellant did not meet their burden of proof.

Ms. Vasquez-Ramirez re-opened her industrial injury claim due to the objective worsening of her work-related injuries which she sustained while working for Value Village, her claim was re-opened effective March 6, 2015. CP 3, lines 12-20. When the Department of Labor and Industries (Department) re-opened Ms. Vasquez-Ramirez's industrial injury claim, Value Village failed to pursue an appeal to that re-opening decision. CP 3, lines 17-20. In failing to pursue any appeal to claim re-opening, Value

Village conceded that Ms. Vasquez-Ramirez's industrial injury conditions had objectively worsened pursuant to RCW 51.32.160.

Nevertheless, Value Village continues to argue on appeal that Ms. Vasquez-Ramirez has the burden to prove her entitlement to benefits and has cited *Olympia Brewing Co. v. Dep't of Labor & Indus*. Brief of Appellant, p. 12. While *Olympia Brewing* is an interesting reference, it would actually further reinforce the requirement of Value Village (as the appealing party) to provide strict proof that Ms. Vasquez-Ramirez was not entitled to time loss or temporary total disability benefits and would require the appealing party to meet their burden of proof first, but since Value Village did not meet their burden of proof, as noted above, the burden should not shift to Ms. Vasquez-Ramirez to present proof since the Board dismissed the employer Value Village's appeals for failure to make a prima facie case and the Superior Court below correctly affirmed the Board's dismissals.

Neither *Olympia Brewing* nor any other case, statute, or regulation places a burden on Ms. Vasquez-Ramirez to show she is entitled to a specific benefit (in this case time-loss compensation or temporary total disability payments) when she is allowed said benefits under the Act and she is not the party appealing the decision to award said benefits. Instead, the burden of proof falls on Value Village, as the party appealing the

Department's decision to pay said benefits, but they failed to meet their burden of proof, so the burden does not shift. See *Olympia Brewing Co. v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 34 Wn.2d 498, 504, 208 P.2d 1181, 1184 (1949); RCW 51.52.11; See also *McClelland v. ITT Rayonier*, 65 Wn. App. 386, 828 P.2d 1138 (1992).

5. <u>Termination from Value Village did not preclude Ms.</u> Vasquez-Ramirez from future benefits.

Ms. Vasquez-Ramirez' claim (prior to claim re-opening) was closed previously on January 8, 2015, and her employment was terminated from Value Village approximately nineteen (19) days after claim closure on January 27, 2015. CP 3, lines 1-3; CP 2, lines 38-39. The closing order dated January 8, 2015 was not protested or appealed by any party and thereby became legally final and binding. CP 3, lines 6-12. Thus, the January 8, 2015 closing order is res judicata, but it was not res judicata regarding aggravation or re-opening rights that Ms. Vasquez-Ramirez has and exercised after claim closure (as noted above, her claim subsequently re-opened effective March 6, 2015), pursuant to RCW 51.32.160 and WAC 296-14-400. See *White v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 48 Wn.2d 413, 414-15, 293 P.2d 764, 765 (1956); *Karniss v. Department of Labor and Industries*, 39 Wn.2d 898, 239 P.2d 555 (1952); *Kleven v. Department of Labor and Industries*, 40 Wn.2d 415, 243 P.2d 488 (1952). As RCW

51.32.160 and WAC 296-14-400 provide expressly, industrial insurance claims can be re-opened if related injury conditions objectively worsen and if so, then pursuant to RCW 51.32.210 and 51.32.090 temporary total disability payments and other benefits can be provided.

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